1970

Don Gerald Williams v. Utah State Department of Finance and James Allen Scott, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem, Erma Lee Scott v. Utah State Department of Finance, As Administrator of the State Insurance Fund and Jeanette Walton, Administratrix of the Estate Of Robert Walton v. Utah State Department of Finance and Boyd Simmons v. Utah State Department of Finance and Angelo Melo, Waulstine Mcneely and William J. Roedel v. Utah State Department of Finance : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs claim an amount of money from Defendant, Utah State Department of Finance, Administrator of the State Insurance Fund, which represents Defendants share of costs and attorneys fees in Third Party lawsuits brought under the provisions of Sec. 35-1-62 Utah Code Ann. (Repl. Vol. 1966).

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiffs received judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of Lower Courts judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The claims of all of the plaintiffs have the following factors in common:

Plaintiffs received on-the-job injuries.

Plaintiffs requested and received compensation payments from defendant, Utah State Insurance Fund.

Plaintiffs pressed claims against "third parties" as provided in Sec. 35-1-62 Utah Code Ann. (Repl. Vol. 1966).

Plaintiffs received compensation of the third party claims.

Plaintiffs reimbursed the defendant for the compensation it had paid.

Defendant did not pay any portion of the attorneys' fees or court costs incurred by plaintiffs in their "third-party" claims.

At the time the defendant was reimbursed, plaintiffs' attorneys protested the payment indicating that defendant should be required to pay a portion of the attorneys' fees and court costs.

All of the above events took place prior to the Utah Supreme Court decision in the case of *Worthen vs. Shurtleff and Andrews, Inc.*, 19 Utah 2d 80, 426 P. 2d 223.

At the time the above events took place, the Utah Supreme Court case of *McConnell vs. Commission of Finance*, 13 Utah 2d 395 375 P. 2d 394, enunciated the controlling law on the issued in these cases, i.e., the compensation carrier was not required to pay a portion of the attorneys' fees and court costs of "third party actions."

The present suits were commenced subsequent to the decision in *Worthen vs. Shurtleff and Andrews, Inc.*, 19 Utah 2d 80, 426 P. 2d 223.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WORTHEN VS. SHURTLEFF, INC., 19 Utah 2d 80, 426 P. 2d 223, SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

Defendant contends that the doctrine laid down in the *Worthen* case should not be applied retroactively so as to require defendant to pay costs and attorneys' fees on cases that were settled before the *Worthen* case.

The question of whether the law of a case applies retroactively or only prospectively is said to be an old and difficult one. See 20 *Am. Jur.* 2d. 562, *Courts* Section 233. To be sure, the overwhelming majority of cases dealing with the question are very old with the exception of a few cases dealing with the application of cases construing constitutional rights. A few generalities may be stated with respect to the question. First, retroactive generally does not raise a constitutional issue. *Linkletter vs. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618; *Tehan vs. U.S. ex rel Shott*, 382 U.S. 406; *Ruark vs. People*, 158 Colo. 110, 405 P. 2d 751. An exception to this rule is if retroactive effect would impair the obligations of existing contracts or destroy vested rights. *Taylor vs. Ypsilanti*, 105 U.S. 60 (15 Otto) (1881). *Jackson vs. Harris*, 43 F. 2d 513; *Continental Supply Co. vs. Abell*, 95 Mont. 148, 24 P. 2d 133; *O'Malley vs. Simms*, 51 Ariz. 155, 75 P. 2d 50. The decision of whether or not to apply a decision retroactively is within the discretion of the State Court. See *e.g. Great Northern R. Co. vs. Sunburst Oil and Refining Co.*, 287 U.S. 358. As stated by Mr. Justice Cordoza, "The choice (retroactive or prospective only) for any state may be determined by the juristic philosophy of the judges of her courts, their conceptions of law, its origin and nature." *Id* at 365.

The two legal encyclopedias *Am. Jur.* and *Corpus Juris* agree that the majority of state courts have held that decisions will be applied retroactively. See 20 *Am. Jur.* 562, *Courts* Section 233; 21 *CJS* 326 *Courts* Sec. 194. However, *Am. Jur.* points out an exception that applies in cases such as the instant case.

“The overruling of a judicial construction of a statute will not be given retroactive effect. Such a decision will be limited to the effect ordinarily inherent in a change of a statutory rule, that is, merely prospective effect.”

20 *Am. Jur.* 2d 562-563 *Courts* Section 234. While this exception may be sufficient support for a decision in appellant's favor, appellant will go further.

Tracing the history of the question of retrospective vs. prospective, shows that the early view was that all decisions had to have retroactive effect; there was no authority for the proposition that judicial decisions made law only for the future. *Blackstone and Commentaries* 69 (15th ed. 1809) *Norton vs. Shelby County* 118 U.S. 425 (1886). The philosophy of most all the cases requiring retroactive application is that the court interprets rather than creates the law; that an overruled decision should have no effect and should be treated as if it never was. See *Gray, Nature and Sources of Law*, 222 (1st ed. 1909). The law was treated as if it were “a brooding omnipresence” and the court merely applies the law to the facts.

Legal philosophers and courts have recently realized that such a view was not very realistic and sometimes led to unjust results. Austin maintained that judges do, in fact do something more than discover law; they make it, in many instances. He advocated that rather than be erased by a later decision, an overruled decision is to be considered a juridicial fact and cases decided under it and relations entered into in reliance on it are not to be disturbed. Many other legal philosophers and jurists have espoused the same view. See, *e.g.* *Cordova, Address 55 Rep. N.Y. State Bar Ass'n*, 263 296-297 (1952); 376, at 387-388; *Traynor, Bad Lands in a Appellate Judge's Realm of Reason*, Utah L. Rev. 157. 167-168, (1960) *Bodeheimer, Jurisprudence* (1962). Professor Edger Bodeheimer, formerly of the University of Utah, College of Law faculty writes, "an unfortunate consequence of discarding a precedent under the still-prevailing doctrine is the retroactive effect of an overruling decision. . . . Regardless of the theoretical question as to whether a judicial decision is law until such time as it is changed, or merely rebuttable evidence of the law, it would seem perfectly sound practice for a court to overturn a precedent, but refuse to apply, on grounds of equitable estoppel, the new principle (retroactively)" *Id* at 375-376.

The Austinian view started gaining acceptance in the courts as early as one hundred years ago. In Ohio, although legislative divorces were held illegal and void, those already granted were immunized by a prospective

application of the rule of the case. *Bingham vs. Miller*, 17 Ohio 445 (1848). The United States Supreme Court first drew on the Austinian concept in *Gepcke vs. Dubuque*, 1 Wall 175 (1863). They discarded the old concept of required retroactivity. The new theory was regarded favorably by Mr. Justice Holmes in *Kuhn vs. Fairmont Coal Co.*, 215 U.S. 349, 371 (1910). Then in 1932, Mr. Justice Cordoza speaking favorably of the Austinian approach denied a federal due process attack on a state court decision allowing prospective application only. *Great Northern R. Co. vs. Sunburst Oil and Refining Co.*, 287 U.S. 358. Eight years later, Mr. Chief Justice Hughes reasoned that because a law was determined unconstitutional or a case overruled, it must still be considered "an operative fact and may have consequences which cannot be justly ignored. The past cannot always be erased by a new judicial declaration." *Chicot County Drainage Dist. vs. Baxter State Bank*, 308 U.S. 371 (1940).

Finally, the Supreme Court has looked with favor on having prospective application only. In *Mosser vs. Darrow*, 341 U.S. 267, at 276, cited approvingly in *Linkletter vs. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618 at 628, Mr. Justice Black stated, "There is much to be said in favor of such a rule (prospective application only) for cases arising in the future."

The instant case might be decided in defendant's favor on the exception, noted by *Am. Jur.*, that retro-

activity is denied in cases dealing with construction of statutes. However, the same result could be reached by re-examining the entire controversy of retroactivity vs. prospectivity. At this stage in the history of Jurisprudence, there can be no doubt that judges do make law; the law is no longer regarded as a "brooding omnipresence." Inasmuch as the old theory behind the rule of retroactivity is thoroughly discredited, an examination of prospective vs. retroactive application, in light of more modern and realistic legal philosophy is needed. If it is considered that a judicial decision can make law, then we must consider that the case of *McConnell vs. Commissioner of Finance*, 13 Utah 2d 395, 375 P.2d 394 was the law in Utah until the *Worthen* case; and further, the the *McConnell* case governs all these cases based on facts taking place prior to the *Worthen* case. Thus, an overruling precedent would operate much the same as a legislative enactment. This seems to be the only realistic and practical approach.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL.

Equitable estoppel should apply in this case in the sense that Professor Bodenheimer discussed it above. In essence, the argument is that the defendant has justifiably relied on the Utah State Supreme Court's decision of *McConnell vs. Commissioner of Finance*, 13 Utah 2d 395, 375 P.2d 394 and has done so to their detriment. The

State Insurance Fund has not taken into consideration in fixing their premiums the fact that they are required to pay attorney's fees. As pointed out at the hearing in the lower court, the premiums charged to employers by appellant are based on the amount of compensation paid to injured employees in a particular industry. If compensation paid out was reimbursed in whole to appellant as result of a third-party action, then there would be no increase in premiums. This was the practice prior to *Worthen* because the State Insurance Fund actuaries, in figuring rates for premiums, were relying on the decision in *McConnell vs. Commissioner of Finance*. Further, the State Insurance Fund is considered to be made up of trust monies, *Utah State Attorney General's opinion* No. 65-015. The failure to follow the law in administering trust monies may well result in prosecution against defendant's employees, *Industrial Commission vs. Strong*, 239 Pac. 12. If we view the affect of the *Worthen* case as overruling *McConnell*, and declaring it as never being law, then defendant's employees failed to follow the law by refusing to pay attorney's fees. This may seem to be a rather hypothetical and hypertechanical interpretation; however, the same sort of situation happened in *Mosser vs. Darrow*, 341 U.S. 267 (1951). The defendant, Darrow was held personally liable for \$43,000 as trustee of a reorganization trust. Not only were the acts complained of not considered wrongful prior to the case, but he did not personally profit from any of the acts which the case law subsequently prohibited. Mr. Justice Black dissented,

stating "It seems to me, however, that there is no reason why the rule should be retroactively applied. . . Under these circumstances, if the new rule is to be announced by the Court, I think it should be given prospective application only."

The defense of equitable estoppel used in the present case is somewhat different than usual. Generally, equitable estoppel is predicated on defendant's reliance on the conduct of the plaintiff. In this case, the only conduct of plaintiff's that defendant relied upon was payment with acquiescence, albeit protested acquiescence, in non participation in costs and attorney's fees. The real reliance, in this case by both defendant and plaintiffs was in the Utah Supreme Court decision in the *McConnell* case. However, this is sufficient reliance for the defense of equitable estoppel to prevent retroactive application. *Bodenheimer, Jurisprudence, 374 (1962)*.

POINT III

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

In its answers to plaintiffs' complaints, the State Insurance Fund raised the defense of statute of limitations. The lower court, in its memorandum decision, held that the limitation period of Sec. 78-12-25 *Utah Code Ann.* (1953) applied to the instant case. That section provides a four year limitation period for actions upon contracts,

obligations, not founded upon a writing, and for services rendered. The lower court further held that the limitation period began to run from the date plaintiffs reimbursed the State Insurance Fund. Inasmuch as all the cases consolidated in this action were begun four years from the date appellant was reimbursed, the lower court held that none of plaintiff's claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

Appellant takes issue with the lower court's decision on this point. Appellant's liability in these cases, if any, is not based on a contract either expressed or implied. Liability is imposed by Sec. 35-1-62 *Utah Code Ann.* (Repl. Vol. 1963), and the Utah Supreme Court's decision in *Worthen vs. Shurtliff and Andrews, Inc.*, 19 Utah 2d 80, 426 P.2d 223, interpreting that statute. If appellant is liable to plaintiffs because of Sec. 35-1-62, then the limitation period should be that provided in either Sec. 78-12-26 (4) or Sec. 35-1-99 *Utah Code Ann.* Section 78-12-26 (4) provides a three year limitation period for actions for liability based on a state statute.

Another limitation period, that provided in Sec. 35-1-99 *Utah Code Ann.* may be applicable. That section provides a three year limitation for actions for compensation under Workmen's Compensation laws. This limitation period seems applicable inasmuch as the statute creating the liability, Sec. 35-1-62(1) *Utah Code Ann.*, is a Workmen's Compensation statute.

It might be argued that claims, such as in the instant case, are not claims for compensation, but rather claims for attorneys fees, and, thus, the limitation period for workmen's injuries should not apply. However, such argument fails to carry weight when it is considered that the fund or pool of money from which the attorney's fees are paid is in reality the amount paid for compensation of injuries. The attorney's fees in all the present cases are based on a percentage of the recovery for injuries and actually are derived from the moneys paid for the injuries. Thus, the claims in the instant case are not for attorney's fees, but for that portion of compensation paid to the State Insurance Fund which represents what the State Insurance Fund would have had to pay an attorney to collect. A hypothetical example may help to illustrate the point. Assume, an injured worker receives a \$30,000.00 award in a third-party claim. If the State Insurance Fund had paid out \$10,000.00 in compensation payments, the worker, before the *Worthen* case, would only get \$10,000.00 of the award. The Insurance fund would get \$10,000.00 and the attorney would get \$10,000.00. After *Worthen*, the State Insurance Fund is required to bear its portion of attorney's costs, so now the State Insurance Fund only receives \$6,666.00 while the injured worker is allowed to retain an additional \$3,334.00 or \$13,334.00. Thus, the claims in the instant case are not really for attorney's fees but for that portion of the compensation award paid to the State Insurance Fund which is computed on the basis of its share of attorney's

fees. If the claim is considered as a claim for additional compensation, then the limitation period pertaining to actions for compensation should apply.

If the Utah Supreme Court decides that Sec. 35-1-99 *Utah Code Ann.* is the proper statute of Limitations then the limitation period should run from the date of the last payment to the worker by the State Insurance Fund. If Sec. 78-12-26(4) *Utah Code Ann.* is considered applicable, then the limitation period should begin, as held in the lower court, from the date that payment was withheld by the State Insurance Fund.

POINT IV

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS SHOULD BE DENIED FOR THEIR FAILURE TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

The law is too well settled to require citation that a claimant must exhaust administrative remedies before bringing his claim to court. If the Court views the claims in these cases as claims for additional compensation, as pointed out in the section of this brief immediately above, the plaintiffs must first exhaust administrative remedies by bringing their claim before the State Industrial Commission. Sec. 35-1-60 *Utah Code Ann.*

Only after having their claim denied by the Commission may they bring their claims to Court.

POINT V

PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST; AND THUS, THEIR COMPLAINTS SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.

If the Court does not view plaintiffs claims as claims for additional compensation, but rather as claims for attorney's fees, then appellant would argue that plaintiffs are not real party in interest. The question presented is whether the plaintiffs or their attorneys on the third-party lawsuits are proper parties.

The defendant, in its answer, has raised the affirmative defense that the plaintiffs are not the real party in interest. The law is clear that a plaintiff must possess a right and be owed a duty before he may invoke the jurisdiction of the court. *Wilson vs. Kiesel*, 9 Utah 397, 35 Pac. 488; 39 *Am. Jur.* 858 *Parties* Section 9. This is particularly true with respect to statutory actions, as is the present case. See *Hunt vs. State*, 201 N.C. 37, 158 S.E. 703 wherein the court held, "Where a cause of action is given by Statute, only those persons who are granted the cause of action may sue."

Assuming the Statute, Sec. 35-1-62 *Utah Code Ann.* (Repl. vol. 1966) clearly imposes a duty on defendant to pay attorney's fees, it is not clear to whom this duty is owed. Defendant is obviously concerned with this point to prevent a double liability situation. In a case similar

to the instant case, filed in Federal District Court for Utah, the "third party" plaintiffs' attorneys brought the action. See *Delbert M. Draper, Jr. et. al. vs. Travelers Insurance Co., et. al.*, Civil No. C-228-67.

The fact that as alleged in plaintiffs' complaint plaintiffs have already paid their attorneys' fees, has no bearing. The real party in interest is determined as of the date the cause of action arose, c.f., *Wilson vs. Kiesel*, 9 Utah 397, 35 Pac. 488; *White vs. Tulsa Iron & Metal Corp.*, 185 Okla. 606, 95P. 2d 590; not from the fact that subsequently, plaintiffs paid their attorneys, a payment they may not have been required to make. The duty imposed (in these cases by statute) must be owed to the plaintiff, or there can be no recovery. *Huntington vs. Natl. Sav. Bank*, 96 U.S. 388; *Illinois C. R. Co. vs. Baker*, 155 Ky. 512, 159 S. W. 1169.

The statute reads ". . . attorney's fees shall be paid and charged proportionately against the parties . . ." The statute places the burden on both parties. The implication and most obvious construction of the statute is that the attorney may collect his fees from both parties, proportionately. If such is the case, plaintiff's claims should be denied as they are not the real party in interest.

POINT VI

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE DEFENSE OF LACHES.

Although it may be determined that plaintiffs' claims are not barred by the Statute of Limitations, recovery may still be precluded on grounds of laches. *Holmberg vs. Armbrecht*, 327 U.S. 392; *Alsop vs. Riker*, 155 U.S. 448; *Godden vs. Kimmel*, 99 U.S. 201; *Whitney vs. Fox*, 166 U.S. 637. The doctrine of laches may, "when justice demands it, refuse relief, even if the time which has elapsed . . . is less than prescribed by the Statute of Limitations." 27 *Am. Jur.* 2d 694 *Equity* Section 157.

Laches, frequently termed the "doctrine of stale demand" is an equitable defense based on the public policy considerations of preventing unreasonable, knowing, injurious delay. *Mockall vs. Casilear*, 137 U.S. 556; *Halstead vs. Grinnon*, 152 U.S. 412. The defense of laches is not mandatory, but is to be applied in the sound discretion of the court. *Davidson vs. Grady*, 105 f. 2d 405. *Sinclair vs. Allender*, 238 Iowa 212, 26 N.W. 2d 320.

There are three requirements before the doctrine of laches may be applied to preclude recovery. They are:

Lapse of time.

The plaintiff had knowledge of the facts giving him a cause of action and ample opportunity to present his claims.

The adverse party had good reason to believe that plaintiff's rights were worthless and had been abandoned so that it would be an in-

justice to permit the plaintiff to now assert them.

See 27 *Am. Jur.* 2d 701-702, *Equity* Section 162.

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