1969

**Don Gerald Williams v. Utah State Department of Finance and James Allen Scott, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem, Erma Lee Scott v. Utah State Department of Finance, As Administrator of the State Insurance Fund and Jeanette Walton, Administratrix of the Estate Of Robert Walton v. Utah State Department of Finance and Boyd Simmons v. Utah State Department of Finance and Angelo Melo, Waulstine Mcneely and William J. Roedel v. Utah State Department of Finance : Brief of Respondents**

The amounts paid, dates of payment and the fact of payment (or allowing payment) under protest are not in dispute.

## A R G U M E N T

### POINT I.

#### DEFENDANT SHOULD PAY ITS FAIR SHARE OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

A. *On principles of contribution irrespective of any statute.*

On ordinary principles of contribution, each recipient of benefits from the third party law suit ought to bear his share of the burdens of such suit.

18 AM Jur 2nd *Contribution* expresses this concept as follows:

#### § 1. *Generally; definitions.*

The principle or doctrine of contribution is one of equality in bearing a common burden. Contribution has been defined as a payment made by each person, or by any of several persons, having a common interest or liability, of his share in the loss suffered or in the money necessarily paid by one of the parties in behalf of the others. The right of contribution has also been variously described as the right of one who has discharged a common liability or burden, to recover of another, also liable, the aliquot portion which he ought to pay or bear; as the right enjoyed by a person who is jointly liable with others and has paid

more than his proper share in discharge of the joint liability to force them to reimburse him to the extent of their liability; and as an equity which arises when one of several parties liable on a common debt discharges the obligation for the benefit of all.

In accordance with these definitions, the general rule is that one who is compelled to pay or satisfy the whole or to bear more than his just share of a common burden or obligation, upon which several persons are equally liable or which they are bound to discharge, is entitled to contribution against the others to obtain from them payment of their respective shares. In other words, when any burden ought, from the relationship of the parties or in respect of property held by them, to be equally borne and each party is in *aequali jure*, contribution is due if one has been compelled to pay more than his share. The doctrine is founded not upon contract, but upon principles of equality, and assists in the fair and just division of losses, preventing unfairness and injustice. And since the doctrine of contribution has its basis in the broad principles of equity, it should be liberally applied.

The same principle was enunciated in *Worthen v. Shurtleff*, 19 Utah 2d 80, 426, P2d 223 at 83, the court saying:

“Where each of the parties has the right to bring the action and one takes the initiative and obtains recovery for the benefit of both, *it is only fair that each bear his share of the expenses necessarily incurred in doing so.*”

B. *The Statute requires reimbursement.*

The statute involved is 35-1-62 UCA 1953 and reads as follows:

When an injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person not in the same employment, the injured employee, or in case of death his dependents, may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also have an action for damages against such third person. If compensation is claimed and the employer or insurance carrier becomes obligated to pay compensation, the employer or insurance carrier shall become trustee of the cause of action against the third party and may bring and maintain the action either in its own name or in the name of the injured employee, or his heirs or the personal representative of the deceased, provided the employer or carrier may not settle and release the cause of action without the consent of the commission.

If any recovery is obtained against such third person it shall be disbursed as follows:

(1) The reasonable expense of the action, including attorneys' fees, shall be paid and charged proportionately against the parties as their interests may appear.

(2) The person liable for compensation payments shall be reimbursed in full for all payments made.

(3) The balance shall be paid to the injured employee or his heirs in case of death,

to be applied to reduce or satisfy in full any obligation thereafter accruing against the person liable for compensation.

In interpreting the statute, this court in *Worthen v. Shurtleff*, supra, an identical case, said:

“The basic purpose of this statute is that of making an equitable arrangement between an injured employee, and an insurer (or employer) who pays him workmen’s compensation, with respect to a cause of action against a third party who injures the employee. It preserves the action to the employee, but it prevents him from having double recovery by requiring him to reimburse the insurer. It also gives the insurer the right to bring the action, but allows it only to reimburse itself and then pay any balance to the employee.

Where each of the parties has the right to bring the action and one takes the initiative and obtains a recovery for the benefit of both, *it is only fair that each bear his share of the expenses necessarily incurred in doing so*. That this is the meaning intended in paragraph (1) seems unmistakably clear. In providing that if recovery is obtained against the third party the expenses including attorney’s fees shall be charged ‘proportionately against the *parties* as their *interests* may appear,’ it is to be noted that those terms could not apply to the two parties to the original action (plaintiff Worthen and defendant Shurtleff and Andrews) because Worthen receives the money from Shurtleff and Andrews, who have no further interest in it after paying it over. Therefore, the only possible ‘parties’ who have ‘interests’ in the money are Worthen and The

State Insurance Fund (the latter being entitled to reimbursement.) It thus follows that Sec. (1), with unmistakably clarity requires that the expenses and attorney's fees be charged proportionately against these 'parties' (Worthen and The State Insurance Fund) as their 'interests' appear. It is more reasonable to assume that the Legislature intended this application of the statute which comports with its equitable purpose than one which would bring about a contrary result.

In addition to the equitable result arrived at by giving priority to paragraph (1) as we have discussed above, there is another persuasive consideration which supports that conclusion. When a statute undertakes an allocation of funds, the sequence in which it does so should be regarded as having some significance. This perhaps would be plainer if the statute had stated that the funds recovered should be disbursed 'first,' 'second,' and 'third.' However, the intent shown thereby is not necessarily different from the priority of allocation which would be indicated by using the numerals (1), (2), and (3). If we do as the statute says and make the allocation provided for in paragraph (1) first, that is, charging the recovery with the costs and attorney's fees *in proportion to the interests of the parties, the disbursement stated first is made first*, and has priority over the provision for disbursements which follows it in paragraph (2). Then the reimbursement to the insurer is made from the funds remaining and to extent possible after the first requirement for disbursement is complied with. This application of the statute can be reconciled with the requirement that the insurer be 'reimbursed in full by regarding that phrase simply meaning reimbursement for *its full share* after the prior requirement

of the statute is fulfilled, and that the insurer cannot be compelled to take less than its proportionate share in any compromise or settlement arranged by others.”

In overruling the earlier case of *McConnell v. Commission of Finance*, 13 Utah 2d 395, 375 P 2d 394, the court said, Page 84:

We have so concluded cognizant of *McConnell v. Commission of Finance*, 13 Utah 2d 395, 375 P2d 394, in which the insurance carrier was not made a party, but in so far as this case may be *inconsistent with McConnell*, that case is overruled. Consistent with our holding here, see *Charles Seligman Distributing Co. v. Brown* (Ky.), 360 S.W.2d 509, 511.

That case is directly in point and supports plaintiffs' position here. The injured workman sued a Third Party and recovered damages. The Kentucky statute provides that the employee has to reimburse the employer or his insurer for the amount paid out as compensation. Reversing two prior cases the Court stated and held:

“. . . Moreover, regardless of the respective amounts recovered, where the employer or its insurer has a reasonable opportunity to intervene in the employee's action against the Third Party tortfeasor, but chooses not to do so it would be inequitable to require the employee to bear the attorney fees on that portion of the recovery which K.R.S. 342.055 obliges him to pay over to the employer or its insurer . . .” *Supra* at 510.

In *McConnell vs. The Commission of Finance* 13 Utah 2d 395, 375 Pac. 2d 394, 1962, an earlier case, The Utah Supreme Court declined to require the fund to pay its proportionate share of attorney's and costs because the Insurance Fund was not made a party, the court saying, page 396:

“If an insurance carrier initiates an action under this statute against the third party, or its made a party in an action initiated by the injured employee, any attorney's fees incurred by it would fall within the priority provided in sub-section 1 (of the statute), however in the instant case the State Insurance Fund was not a party to the action and did not insure any legal expenses.”

The court there took a narrow view of the word “party” and should have taken a broad view as in *Fong Sik Leung v. Dulles*, 226 F2 CA Calif. where the court defines the word “party” as follows:

“In its broadest meaning the word party includes one concerned with, conducting, or taking part in any matter or proceeding, whether he is named or participates as formal party or not.”

C. *There is no problem of retroactive application.*

Defendant contends application of the Worthen case rule would be retroactive therefore, unfair. Yet in the Worthen case the contribution rule was applied in 1967 to funds obtained between 1964 and

1967 in suit on a December 2, 1964 accident, thus the application was similar to that requested here.

The only difference is that in the Worthen case the funds were held by the court and here they were paid, or the Fund allowed to obtain same under protest; and the law would never shy from this slight inconvenience.

Defendant asserts that the Worthen case changed the law so that contribution could only be granted on cases arising after the Worthen decision, and this despite the fact that the Worthen case itself was applied retroactively.

It would seem that the Worthen case declared what the law had always been, it being the general rule as stated in numerous cases in 10 ALR 3d 1371, that the judicial ruling of a precedent has both prospective and retroactive effect unless the overruling decision declares that it shall have only prospective effect.

An annotation of numerous cases involving the application of an overruling decision is found in 10 ALR 3d 1371. The general rule or traditional theory of the unlimited retroactive operation that has existed for many years is stated at page 1382 as follows:

“The traditional view was that by overruling a prior decision the Court does not ‘pre-

tend to make a new law, but to vindicate the old one from misrepresentation. . . . It is declared, not that such a sentence was bad law, but that it was not law.’ Accordingly, the correct (new) rule would naturally apply to all questions subsequently coming before the Court, regardless of the chronology of the factual events from which the legal rights and liabilities at issue arose.

“This view was founded on the notion that a Court is merely a discoverer rather than a maker of the law, and that a Court’s earlier decisions are mere evidences of the law and not the law itself. Such a notion still finds expression in many decisions.”

A landmark case cited as standing for this position is the case of *Fleming v. Fleming*, 264 U.S. 29, 68 P.Ed. 547, 44 C. Ct. 246 (1924). Also there cited as enunciating this rule are a number of Circuit Court opinions, including three from the Tenth Circuit, *Jackson v. Harris*, 43 F2d 513 (C.A. 10 Okla., 1930); *Sunray Oil Company v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue*, 147 F2d 962 (C.A. 10 1945), cert. den., 325 U.S. 861, 89 L.Ed. 1982, 65 S.Ct. 1201; and *Massaglia v. Commissioner* 286 F2d 258 (C.A. 10 1961). In *Sunray Oil Company*, the Court speaking through Chief Judge Phillips said:

“It is a general rule that the decisions of the highest appellate court of a jurisdiction overruling a former decision is retrospective in its operation. In effect, it declares that the former decision never was law.”

See also *Ragghianti v. Sherwin*, 196 Cal. App. 2d 345, 16 Cal. Rpt. 583 (1961); *Legg's Estate v. C.I.R.*, 114 F2d 760 (C.A. 4, 1940); *Peterson v. John Hancock Mutual Insurance Company*, 116 F2d 148 (C.A. 8, 1940).

Defendant, in its memorandum cites several cases, which, while acknowledging this general rule, indicates an exception thereto, where a contract has been entered into in reliance upon a Legislative enactment as it was construed by earlier decisions. The cases cited by defendant involve situations where bonds or similar contractual obligations had been issued or incurred based directly upon a decision upholding a statute, which decision was subsequently overruled. The court properly in those situations held that the contractual obligation that was entered into between the parties in reliance on such prior decision should not be disturbed by the later overruling decision. It is respectfully submitted that any such exception to the general rule of retroactivity has no application in this present case, because the plaintiff and defendant never entered into any contracts of any kind and because the rights and obligations between them arise out of the contribution principle as enunciated by the terms of the Utah statute.

## POINT II

### PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS ARE TIMELY.

#### A. *The Statute of Limitations is not a bar.*

The district court in deciding the instant case, with regard to the Statute of Limitations, said:

“I am also of the opinion that the four year statute of limitations of Section 78-12-25, UCA 1953, applies, since I consider that the action is based upon a contract for services rendered rather than an action for a liability created by statute (Section 78-12-26—3-year statute) or against an officer who is a tax collector (Section 78-12-31—6-month statute).

“The file in each case reflects that the respective plaintiffs have each filed his complaint within the four-year period from the date the funds were paid to the state to reimburse the State Insurance Fund, and, in my opinion, the date of such reimbursement would constitute the date upon which the statute of limitations would begin to run.”

He is well supported by case law as summarized in 18 Am Jur 2d *Contribution*, as follows:

#### §90. *Statute of limitations applicable.*

Considerable contrariety exists among the decisions as to what statute of limitations is applicable to the right of a paying obligor to recover contribution from his co-obligors. Most of this appears to result from the fact that the following different remedies are available for the enforcement of the right to contribution: an action at law on the implied contract; a suit in equity to equalize the bur-

den which should be borne in common; procedure as successor to rights and remedies of the creditor, where allowable; and combinations of these remedies. A simple action for contribution by one co-obligor against another is generally held, however, to be governed by the statute of limitations applicable to actions based on implied contracts or those not in writing; for purposes of limitations the action may be regarded as one for a debt not evidenced by writing, or as one to recover, upon an implied promise, money paid for the defendant's benefit.

As a general rule, where contribution is sought between parties who were co-obligors to another upon a written contract, the statute of limitations governing is not that relating to actions founded upon such a contract or instrument in writing, but rather that relating to contracts not in writing or to an implied promise or contract. But a statute of limitations governing actions upon contracts, express or implied, "arising out of a written agreement," has been held applicable to such a case. Of course, where the parties expressly contract for the right of contribution itself, the statute of limitations applicable to contracts in writing applies.

The origin of the action is always material in determining what statute of limitations applies. 18 Am Jur 2d *Contributions* is helpful here:

#### 4. *Basis and Origin of Right.*

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